
 
 

 
 

August 6, 2018 
 

 The Washington County Board of Commissioners met in a regular session on Monday, 
August 6, 2018 at 6:00 PM at the Creswell Elementary School Art Room at 115 West Middle 
Street, Creswell, NC.  Commissioners Johnson, Phelps, Riddick, Sexton and Walker were 
present.  Also present were County Manager/Attorney Curtis Potter, Clerk to the Board Julie J. 
Bennett and Finance Officer Missy Dixon.   
 

 Chair Johnson called the meeting to order.  Commissioner Sexton gave the invocation; 
Commissioner Riddick led the pledge of allegiance.  

 
ADDITIONS/DELETIONS:  Item 9A:  Resolution:  Designation of Applicant’s Agent, NC 

Division of Emergency Management, for Generator for Pines Elementary School, Ms. Ann Keyes 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA:  Commissioner Phelps made a motion to approve the Consent 
Agenda: 

a) Approval of Minutes 
b) Tax Refunds & Releases and Insolvent Accounts 
c) A Resolution Calling for Hearings and Ratification of the Equal 

Rights Amendment (ERA) by the NC General Assembly 
d) Resolution on Opioid Litigation 
e) ABC Board FY18-19 Approved Budget 
f) FY17-18 Year-End Budget Amendments 

 
Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion carried unanimously. 

 
PUBLIC FORUM:  Beth Jackson, Washington County’s Extension Agent, 4-H Youth 

Development, 128 Water St, Plymouth stated that Kaley Christenberry will be representing 
Washington County at the NCACC Conference August 23 – 26, 2018 in Hickory.  Ms. 
Christenberry told the Commissioners that she has showed livestock since she was 7 years old.  
She has showed at the district and state level, has been president of two councils and she is 
excited to attend the Youth Summit in Hickory. 

 
UPDATE ON CRESWELL PRIMARY CARE:  Mr. Guy Simmons, RCCHC Board 

Chair, started out by introducing Paulique Horton as one of RCCHC’s board members.  Ms. 
Horton is the Treasurer and also mentioned that Mr. Potter is Chair of the Finance Committee.  
RCCH is going strong and has a good balance sheet.  The partnership between RCCHC and 
Washington County has been outstanding.  The Creswell Primary Care clinic has been open for 
28 months.  They have 1,730 unique patients and are busy every day all week.  Mr. Simmons 
said he knows there are more patients who need them.  RCCHC has participated at 9 outreach 
events and has brought in 300 prospective new patients.  RCCHC has helped patients with the 
Affordable Care Act. They also have sliding fees for patients –everyone is qualified to receive 
service.  They are also doing farmworker outreach. RCCHC visited 6 camps. The top diagnosis 
in the County is diabetes. The rate is twice the national level so RCCHC is continuing to work on 
caring for those folks and dealing with the illness.   RCCHC has partnered with MTW.  They 
have had 2 programs already and 31 folks participated.  Mr. Simmons said he is pleased that 
Riverlight Transit is bringing patients to RCCHC.  RCCHC is continuing to work on the process 



 
 

to be accessible to patients.  They have a ‘call a nurse’ program for folks who can not get to the 
clinic.  Mr. Simmons said Washington County is a great landlord.  Mr. Simmons went on to say 
that their next health center will be in Woodland in Northampton County.  Mr. Simmons said the 
bigger RCCHC gets, the more services they can offer.  They now have a robust pediatric 
program.     

 
Commissioner Phelps thanked Mr. Simmons and asked him to take back the Boards 

thanks to Ms. Schwartz and staff.  He also thanked Mr. Simmons for believing in Washington 
County and not writing us off like others did.  Mr. Simmons said the best is yet to come.  
Commissioner Walker said all he has heard is positive words about RCCHC.  Mr. Simmons 
ended his presentation by saying that RCCHC is a federally qualified health center and meets 
strict standards.    
  
 TAX COLLECTOR’S REPORT IN SETTLEMENT:  Ms. Sherri Wilkins, Tax 
Administrator spoke to the Board.  Per North Carolina General Statute 105-373 told the 
Commissioners that they are receiving a settlement report for the fiscal year 2017 – 2018 which 
ended June 30, 2018.    
 

This report includes the settlement of real property taxes and personal property taxes.  
The charges for this report include original amounts due along with discoveries, penalties, 
interest and costs and all other sums. The credits for this report include deposits, releases, 
principal balances of real and personal property and other balances due.  Also included with this 
report are the write-off amounts and a breakdown of the enforced collections. The tax office has 
made diligent efforts to collect all the taxes due, including the use of wage garnishments, bank 
attachments, letters, personal contact, debt set-off, and foreclosures. 
 

For this fiscal year we billed and collected for the Washington County Ad Valorem Tax, 
Town of Creswell Ad Valorem Tax, Watershed Tax, Solid Waste User Fee, Albemarle Drainage 
District, and Pungo River Drainage District.  We collected for Drainage District 5. 
   

We are still working to collect delinquent motor vehicle taxes for bills prior to the 
NCVTS program being implemented in 2013.  This year, per N.C.G.S. 105-373 (h) we will write 
off the balance of motor vehicle accounts that have not been collected.  We will be able to focus 
all of our efforts to collect taxes on real and personal property.  Each month Denise Jones works 
to process the monthly queues, and reports in the Tag and Tax Program or NCVTS (North 
Carolina Vehicle Tax System).  Although the bills are sent and collected through the NCVTS 
system, we still handle any adjustments, refunds, releases (e.g. situs error) and general questions 
about motor vehicle taxes.  
 

In December, listing notices were posted around the county and advertised in the 
Roanoke Beacon concerning the listing period for 2017 – 2018. We completed the listing of 
Business Personal Property and Personal Property; those forms are mailed December 31st of each 
year and are due January 31st.  Applications were processed for the Present-Use Value program 
and Property Tax Relief program.  “Notice of Lien Advertisement” aka second notices were sent 
in March.  These letters were combined with our Debt Set-off letters.  The delinquent taxpayer’s 
advertisement was run in the Roanoke Beacon in April.  The Board of E & R advertisement was 
run in the Roanoke Beacon.   Reports were sent to the N C Department of Revenue as requested, 
annually there are several reports required by the NCDOR and the Office of the Fire Marshall.   



 
 

We worked with the contracted Appraiser to get the appraisals completed and 
adjustments made since last year.  
 

The Assistant Assessor and I continued our work with County Tax Services, Inc. on the 
Business Personal Property Audits/Compliance checks.    
 

The School of Government and the NC DOR require continuing education classes for 
different certifications and positions. All tax office personnel have completed their courses and 
have passed all tests per the requirements.    
 

Transfers are an on-going process from the time the bills go out in July until we are ready 
to bill the next tax year.  We work closely with the Register of Deeds, Mapping Department and 
the Permits office to assure that our records of transfers or additions are correct.  Once the bills 
are mailed, the Assistant Assessor will begin transfers that have occurred since January 1 that 
can be keyed in preparation for 2019 tax year.   While some of the changes the Assistant 
Assessor and I can review, there are changes that the Appraiser has to complete.  He is usually 
here the first of the calendar year to complete any appraisal work so change notices can be sent 
in a timely manner.   
  

The Delinquent Tax Coordinator works with mortgage companies to assure that they 
receive the tax bills they have requested.  She is the primary assistant with the foreclosure 
program.  She will continue to enforce wage garnishments, bank attachments and the debt set-off 
program.  This fiscal year she was not able to enforce the number of wage garnishments and 
bank attachments as in previous years because she was assisting the tax office as a tax clerk.   
 
  The Tax Office staff members are cross-trained.  Because of this, the Delinquent Tax 
Coordinator, Assistant Assessor and Tax Administrator are pulled away from their main duties and we 
help each other and we may be the one to help you at the counter. 
 
  Commissioner Sexton asked how many years is the County going to write off vehicles.  Ms. 
Wilkins said she will get Commissioner Sexton a report. 
   
  Commissioner Phelps asked if Ms. Wilkins could explain the uncollected ending balance and if 
the tax collection rate has come out.  Ms. Wilkins said she would get this information to the 
Commissioners. 
 
 TARHEEL CHALLENGE ACADEMY:   Mr. Kenneth Cates, NCDPS Recruiter, told the 
Commissioners that he started off in the Airforce.  The Tarheel Challenge Academy is about giving 
youth a second chance. He went over the brochure below. 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 
 Mr. Cates said that people can go on the website to sign up.  Commissioner Walker asked what   
the success rate is.  Mr. Cates said 92%  in the first week,  they weed themselves out---they take their 
cell phones away! 
 
 Commissioner Phelps told Mr. Cates that he went to his facility as a mentor. Commissioner 
Phelps tried to get someone into the program in Salemburg, but failed.  This was someone who had a 
felony, but not a conviction.  Commissioner Phelps said the brochure says if the person doesn’t have a 
conviction they should be allowed to attend. Why was this particular person turned down? Mr. Cates 
said try again and contact him.  
  
 EMS UPDATE:  Mr. Andrew Coccaro, EMS Director, spoke to the Board.  Mr. Coccaro said he 
has implemented the new schedule and EMS staff is happy.  He is still trying to recruit paramedics.  Mr. 
Coccaro said vehicles are still an issue.  He is trying to secure funding for the new ambulances that were 
approved in the budget.  Commissioner Phelps asked if Mr. Coccaro was buying them out of Florida.  
Mr. Coccaro said the dealer is in NC, but all of these transit type vehicles come out of Florida.  The 
paperwork holdup is with USDA.  Commissioner Phelps said he feels we need to speed it up.  Mr. Potter 
said the paperwork is about 90 days out.  Mr. Coccaro said he is trying to keep trucks at similar 



 
 

mileage…it helps to maintain them better.  He is also trying to find mechanics to work on ambulances; 
however, it is a struggle.  He is going to try a mechanic in Williamston.  Diesel mechanics are hard to 
keep. The ambulances are still breaking faster than shops can fix them.  Mr. Coccaro stated that OEM 
did a surprise inspection on our trucks and they all passed.  Regarding staffing, Mr. Coccaro said we are 
still short 2 paramedics that are on leave.  He has put out job advertisements on indeed.com, reached out 
to community colleges and the OEM web site.  He is still having a hard time getting/keeping part-time 
employees. Paramedics are not rolling in the door.  Mr. Coccaro said he still thinks that the pay scale 
needs to be revisited.  Drugs are still in short supply since they mostly come from manufacturers in 
Puerto Rico.  The hurricane that hit there basically wiped out all their facilities so there is a nationwide 
shortage.  It’s going to get worse before it gets better.  Commissioner Riddick asked how many trucks 
are on the road now.  Mr. Coccaro said he has been keeping 5 vehicles on the road--3 ambulances and 2 
QRVs.  Chair Johnson asked about the USDA paperwork---do the Commissioners need to contact 
Butterfield to help us out. Commissioner Phelps said no, the hold-up is paperwork not being done by 
staff.  Mr. Potter said he hears the Board saying this item needs to be pushed to the top of his list of 
things to do.  Mr. Potter said it will take approximately 30-35 days on paperwork and have them on the 
road in 90 days.  Commissioner Phelps said the Board needs to direct the County Manager to put this to 
the top of his list. 
 
 Commissioner Phelps asked if the Board and citizens should be concerned with the leadership of 
EMS.  Mr. Coccaro said no, he does not see any issues with himself.  Mr. Potter said if the Board wishes 
to discuss the EMS Director’s qualifications, it should be done in Closed Session.  Commissioner Phelps 
said he was talking about the trucks breaking down and the shortage of meds, should the citizens be 
alarmed.  Mr. Coccaro said no, there is no danger to the citizens regarding using different meds if some 
others are not available.  Mr. Coccaro said the service level between intermediates and paramedics is not 
great.  Intermediates can do a lot of things that paramedics can do.   
 
 ABANDONED CEMETERIES, Mr. Curtis Potter, CM/CA, spoke to the Board regarding an issue 
that has arisen.  Please see the Mr. Potter’s memorandum below. 
 



 
 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
   
 Mr. Potter said it doesn’t look like this issue has ever come before this Board.  There is limited 
guidance on what options to tell the Board it has.  Chair Johnson feels that this should fall under the 
Health Department.   Commissioner Phelps said he would like to hear from the people involved in this 
matter.  Commissioner Walker asked are we sure this hasn’t happened in our county before.  Ms. Keyes 
said some graves were moved due to a storm, which is different than this.  Commissioner Phelps asked 
if we could have a public hearing on this.  It was agreed this should be put on the October agenda.  Chair 
Johnson asked Ms. Keyes if the Planning Board could revisit the ordinance that allows spouses to be 
buried on the same plot (if on personal property).   

 



 
 

ORDER FOR COLLECTION OF AD VALOREM TAXES: Ms. Wilkins spoke to the 
Board regarding the need to publish the Order for Collection of Ad Valorem Taxes as directed by 
the NCGS.  

 

 
Commissioner Sexton made a motion to approve the Order for Collection of Ad 

Valorem Taxes as presented above.  Commissioner Phelps seconded, motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
 LATE APPLICATION FOR PROPERTY TAX RELIEF: MS. Velma Spruill:  Ms. Sherri 
Wilkins, Tax Administrator, presented the following information.  



 
 

 
 

Commissioner Sexton made a motion to approve the Late Application for Property 
Tax Relief for Ms. Velma Spruill.  Commissioner Walker seconded, motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
 RESOLUTION:  DESIGNATION OF APPLICANT’S AGENT, NC DIVISION OF 
EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT, FOR GENERATOR FOR THE PINES ELEMENTARY 
SCHOOL:  Ms. Ann Keyes, EM Director, presented a resolution that needed the Board’s 
approval so she can get a generator through a grant to use at Pines School as it is a Red Cross 
Station.  Ms. Keyes said in order to get the grant, she has to submit paperwork by 8/20. 
 



 
 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to approve the  resolution stating Designation 
of Applicant’s Agent, NC Division of Emergency Management, for Generator for The Pines 
Elementary School.  Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion carried unanimously. 
 
 FY18-19 AUDITOR SELECTION: Mr. Curtis Potter, CM/CA spoke to the Board regarding 
selecting an auditor for FY18-19 and discussed the memo below. (The contract with Mauldin &Jenkins is 
incorporated by reference and hereby made a part of these minutes.) 
 

 
 Commissioner Sexton asked if the County put the penalty clause in the contract.  Mr. Potter said 
no, since none of Mauldin & Jenkin’s other contracts have it.  Mr. Potter said this is a one year contract.  
Commissioner Walker asked if this is the first year with Gates Co.  Chair Johnson said yes it is.   



 
 

 Commissioner Phelps asked Mr. Potter to bring this back to the Board if Mauldin & Jenkins 
exceed $50,000. 
 

Commissioner Walker made a motion to approve selection of Mauldin & Jenkins as 
the County’s auditor for FY18 – 19 with the modification made in the contract about 
exceeding $50,000.  Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion carried unanimously. 
 
 Mr. Potter said he will be bringing a Budget Amendment to the Board to cover the $2,000 needed 
for the Travel & Tourism Authority. 
 
 SURPLUS PROPERTY NOTIFICATION:  Mr. Curtis Potter, CM/CA spoke to the Board 
regarding surplus property notification.   Please see the information below along with the resolution 
previously approved by the Board. 
 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 
Commissioner Sexton made a motion to approve the Surplus Property Declaration 

as presented above. Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion carried unanimously. 
 
 



 
 

 QUOTES ON WINDOWS FOR THE STRADER BUILDING: Mr. Curtis Potter, CM/CA spoke to 
the Board about the quotes in their package.  Please see his memo below.   
 

  
 
 (The two quotes that were received which are incorporated by reference are hereby made a part of 
these minutes.) 
 
 Mr. Potter noted that with this recent rain, Ms. Liverman said their office is continuing to leak. Mr. 
Potter said he is recommending, Option 1C, The Baker Roofing Company, and then re-evaluate the need 
to replace any windows after said work is complete. 
 



 
 

 Mr. Louis Boone, Facilities Director, said his opinion was to do the wall first, then do the 
windows.  However, Commissioner Sexton said he wants to do it all.  Commissioner Sexton asked is the 
water going through the bricks.  Mr. Boone said yes it is.  Mr. Boone said they could grout around the 
windows to help.  Commissioner Phelps asked why the County isn’t going with the lowest bidder.  Mr. 
Potter said that one company does walls, but doesn’t do windows.  The others do windows and don’t do 
walls.  Commissioner Phelps said these quotes are like “apples to oranges”.  Mr. Potter said Mr. Boone 
has been trying to find contractors to look at this issue.  Mr. Liverman said that building has leaked for the 
19 years she has worked in it. It runs down the walls and looks disgusting.  Commissioner Walker asked if 
all the work can be done at one time.  Mr. Boone said it will take two contactors--one to do each part and 
he’d have to check to see if both contractors could work around each other. 
 

Commissioner Sexton made a motion to approve the contract with Baker Roofing to 
seal the brick walls and use the existing windows but do window and flashing repairs at the 
Cooperative Extension Office.  Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
 VOTING DELEGATE FOR THE 2018 NCACC ANNUAL CONFERENCE:  Ms. Julie Bennett, 
Clerk to the Board, spoke to the Board.  Ms. Bennett said received an e-mail from the NCACC asking the 
Board to nominate a NCACC Annual Conference attendee to be the voting delegate on behalf of 
Washington County. 
 
 Chair Johnson and Commissioner Riddick are both registered to attend the conference.  Ms. 
Bennett asked the Board to nominate one of them as the voting delegate at the NCACC Annual 
Conference that is being held in Hickory, NC on August 23 – 26, 2018.  
 

Chair Johnson made a motion to nominate Commissioner Riddick as the Voting 
Delegate for the 2018 NCACC Annual Conference. Commissioner Phelps seconded, motion 
carried unanimously. 
 
   Boards and Committees: Ms. Bennett discussed the following appointment/re-appointment 
requests. 
 
   Albemarle Commission Community Advisory Committee 
 
The Albemarle Commission is requesting the Board re-appoint Mr. John Fallon to their CAC.  
Mr. Fallon has agreed to serve if re-appointed. 
 
Child Fatality Prevention Team and Community Child Protection Team 
 
DSS is requesting that the Board appoint Mr. Matthew Beard (Pettigrew Library Librarian) to the 
Child Fatality Prevention Team (CCFT) and the Community Child Protection Team (CCPT). Mr. 
Beard would be replacing Ms. Amy O’Neal, the previous librarian, who retired in December 
2017. Mr. Beard has agreed to serve if appointed. 
 
Travel & Tourism Authority (TTA) 
 
The TTA is requesting that the Board appoint Mr. Lou Manring to replace Ms. Judy Mayo on the 
TTA Board as her term has expired.  Mr. Manring has agreed to serve if appointed. 
 



 
 

 Commissioner Phelps made a motion to approve the appointments and re-appointments that 
were presented above.  Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion carried unanimously.  
 

FINANCE OFFICER’S REPORT:   Ms. Dixon went over the budget transfers and budget 
amendments and her report that was in the Commissioners’ package.  

 
Commissioner Phelps asked at what percentage the departments should be at.   He sees 

some that are rather high.  Ms. Dixon said some bills are paid in full as soon as the Fiscal Year 
starts, so some percentages will be skewed.  

Ms. Dixon asked if the Commissioner had any questions about the Budget Amendments 
or Transfers (shown below). 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 



 
 

Commissioner Phelps asked why the County is paying for Civil War Trail signs.  Ms. 
Dixon said those come out of the TTA funding.  Mr. Potter said that Mr. Harrison will be at the 
September meeting and can address this.  

 
Commissioner Riddick made a motion to approve BT #2019-001, BT 2019-002, BA 

#2019-003, BA #2019-004 (less the TTA portion), BA #2019-005 and BA #2019-006.  
Commissioner Walker seconded, motion carried unanimously. 
 

OTHER ITEMS BY CHAIRPERSON, COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY MANAGER, 
ASSISTANT COUNTY MANAGER/ATTORNEY OR CLERK:   

 
Chair Johnson gave the Commissioners a booklet from NACo and said it does a good job 

of explaining the roles of Commissioners.  Commissioner Phelps said he feels it would be good 
to go ahead and order 100 to pass around to students. 

  
Commissioner Phelps said there will be a Meet & Greet Tuesday, August 14 Ron Wesson 

and Anita Earles at the Vernon James Center from 6:00 pm – 8:00 pm. 
 
Chair Johnson said she appreciated the opportunity to meet the Governor. 
 
Mr. Potter said that with the impressive amounts of rain we have had, 128 of the 

County’s water meters were not readable but staff was able to get the number down to 
approximately 24.  Bills will have to be estimated and the County expects to have some 
complaints.  Please direct citizens to Mr. Luton if you hear of any issues. 

 
Mr. Potter also stated that due to the rain, there have been some driveways washed out 

where work was being done on Morratock Road. 
 
Mr. Potter also mentioned that National Night Out is tomorrow night from 6:00 pm – 

8:00 pm in downtown Plymouth. 
 
 Mr. Potter said there would be a regional meeting to discuss mosquito control at the 
Vernon James Center on Wednesday from 10:00 am – 12:00 noon. 
 

Mr. Potter said he will be meeting with the Golden Leaf folks to discuss the next grant 
rollout.  

 
Mr. Potter stated that the Rumble on the Roanoke will be August 10-12, 2018. 
 
Commissioner Phelps stated he called Ms. Keyes when some of the roads got flooded and 

she got some of them shut down. He thanked her for what she did. 
 
Mr. Potter said the boil notice was lifted and residents were notified by Hyper Reach and 

by Water staff going door to door.  Mr. Potter said he is looking into making info more easily 
understood on our website about the boil advisories. 

 
Commissioner Sexton asked about the water coming up under the pavement across from 

Bennett Drive on Highway 64 West in Plymouth. Mr. Luton said DOT said it is some sort of 
spring well that is under the road. It is not from the County’s water source.   



 
 

Ms. Bennett mentioned the following items: 
 
The Washington County Schools Convocation will be on Friday, August 24, 2018 at 8:30 

AM at Washington County Middle School (formerly Roper Union School).  
 
Washington County Schools will be holding a Back to School Celebration on Saturday, 

August 25, 2018 from 9:00 AM – 1:00 PM at Washington County Middle School (formerly 
Roper Union School.) 
 

The Annual Family and Friends Day Community Event hosted by Queen Esther Jewell 
#32, OES and Carthagenia Lodge #38, PHA will be held on Saturday, August 25, 2018 in 
Downtown Plymouth from 10:00 AM – 2:00 PM at Flowers Park near the Plymouth Museum. 
 

Chair Johnson reminded everyone that there will be a parade on August 10 before the 
drag boat races begin.  The line-up will be at Washington County High School beginning at 5:00 
pm. 

 
Commissioner Phelps made a motion to go into Closed Session pursuant to NCGS 

§143-318.11(a)(3) (attorney-client privilege) § 143.318.11(a)(6) personnel.  Commissioner 
Sexton seconded, motion carried unanimously. 
  
 Back in Open Session, Commissioner Phelps made a motion to authorize the 
McHugh Fuller Law Group, PLLC to proceed with opioid litigation on behalf of 
Washington County. Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion carried unanimously. 
 

At 8:45 PM, with no further business to discuss, Commissioner Riddick made a motion 
to adjourn.  Commissioner Phelps seconded, motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 

Tracey A. Johnson       Julie J. Bennett, CMC, NCCCC 
         Chair        Clerk to the Board    
 
 
 
 

 


